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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN
______________________________________________________________________________
MILLERCOORS, LLC,
Plaintiff,
v.
ANHEUSER-BUSCH COMPANIES, LLC,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. 19-cv-218-WMC

Anheuser-Busch Companies, LLC’s Memorandum of Law
in Support of Its Motion to Dismiss

MillerCoors has filed this lawsuit, claiming it is suffering irreparable harm from
Anheuser-Busch’s Bud Light advertisements. These advertisements inform consumers about the
ingredients of Miller Lite, Coors Light, and Bud Light. Miller Lite and Coors Light use corn
syrup. Bud Light does not. Bud Light is brewed with water, barley, hops, and rice. The source
cited in the advertisements is MillerCoors’s own website listing of ingredients. The
advertisements, then, are classic examples of truthful, comparative advertising in a competitive
market.
Count I of the Complaint asserts that the advertising is deceptive. Yet, MillerCoors
concedes its beers are brewed with corn syrup. ECF 1, ¶ 7. It also admits the advertisements
“recite[] the respective ingredients” of the beers. Id. ¶ 64. Such truthful advertisements do not
violate the law. Count II claims trademark dilution. The Lanham Act, however, does not forbid
a competitor from using a rival’s mark to describe products in comparative advertising. For
these and other reasons, the Complaint should be dismissed.
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I.

Background

This case challenges advertisements by Bud Light. The advertisements highlight the
ingredients in Bud Light as compared to the ingredients in Miller Lite and Coors Light. Id.
¶¶ 43-69. The Complaint attacks, for example, Bud Light’s Special Delivery Super Bowl LIII
commercial, where the fictional King John Barley IV states: “Bud Light is not brewed with corn
syrup.” Id. ¶ 46. The commercial further states (accurately) that “Miller Lite uses corn syrup,”
and, as to Coors Light (also accurately) that “they also use corn syrup.” Id.; Special Delivery
Transcript, attached as Ex. A.1 Other commercials identify the essential ingredients of the three
beers. See e.g., Medieval Barbers Transcript, attached as Ex. B; see also Exs. C-F (transcripts to
other commercials referenced in the Complaint). The advertising provides citation to their
source, the MillerCoors website. See ECF 14-4, Special Delivery Video File, at 0:08.
The Complaint further challenges a Bud Light post on Twitter sent after MillerCoors
responded to the commercials. ECF 1, ¶¶ 71-72. King John Barley IV – who at great personal
risk transported the barrel of corn syrup to Miller Lite and Coors Light in Special Delivery –
states in an ancient scroll format: “I just wanted to return some corn syrup to its rightful owners
and here we are… Sorry, was it a secret or something?” Id. The Complaint also attacks a
newspaper ad that makes no reference to MillerCoors’s beers. Rather, the ad states as to Bud
Light: “No corn syrup. No preservatives. No artificial flavors.” Id. ¶ 78. In addition,
MillerCoors takes issue with billboards that depict a Bud Light bottle and state “100% less corn
syrup” than Coors Light and Miller Lite. Id. ¶ 79. Finally, the Complaint addresses Bud Light
packaging, which lists four ingredients and states that Bud Light contains “No Corn Syrup,” “No

1

The Complaint explicitly references a series of separate advertisements. As explained below, the advertisements
themselves are properly considered part of the pleadings on a motion to dismiss. For ease of reference, AnheuserBusch has prepared transcripts of the advertisements and is attaching them as exhibits to this brief.
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Preservatives,” and “No Artificial Flavors.” Id. ¶¶ 75-77. None of these ads are actionable
under the Lanham Act.
II.

Legal Standards

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter”
“to state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678
(2009). “[L]abels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of
action will not do.” Bell Atl. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). “The ‘[f]actual allegations
must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level.’” McCauley v. City of
Chicago, 671 F.3d 611, 616 (7th Cir. 2011). A complaint must state a “plausible claim for
relief,” the analysis of which is “a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw
on its judicial experience and common sense.” Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679. “But where the wellpleaded facts do not permit the court to infer more than the mere possibility of misconduct, the
complaint has alleged – but it has not ‘show[n]’ – ‘that the pleader is entitled to relief.’” Id.
The Lanham Act “requires considering the statement in context.” McDavid Knee Guard
v. Nike USA, 2010 WL 3000178, *3 (N.D. Ill. 2010). The Court should consider all of the ads at
issue because they are expressly referenced in the complaint and are central to MillerCoors’
claims. Brownmark Films v. Comedy Partners, 800 F. Supp. 2d 991, 998 (E.D. Wis. 2011);
Williamson v. Curran, 714 F.3d 432, 435-36 (7th Cir. 2013). The MillerCoors website is also
embraced by the pleadings because it is referenced in the commercials. Tecumseh v. Perdue,
2012 WL 3018255, *6 n.4 (D. Neb. 2012) (plaintiff’s own packaging from website considered in
Rule 12(b) motion). Lanham Act claims based on allegedly false statements are subject to the
heightened pleading standard of Rule 9(b). Oil-Dri v. Nestle Purina Petcare, 2017 WL 1436965,
*3 (N.D. Ill. 2017) (“Lanham Act claims alleging false representation must meet Rule 9(b)’s
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heightened pleading requirements.”); Gensler v. Strabala, 764 F.3d 735, 737 (7th Cir. 2014).
Rule 9(b) extends to the circumstances constituting confusion. Control-Solutions v. Oshkosh,
2011 WL 1131329, *2-3 (N.D. Ill. 2011).
III.
A.

Argument

Count I Fails to State A Claim for False Advertising.
Count I alleges false advertising under the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a). The theory

is that Bud Light misleads consumers into believing they will drink corn syrup or high fructose
corn syrup in the final MillerCoors product. ECF 1, ¶¶ 3, 15. Count I fails to state a claim
because it does not (a) allege facts showing the advertising is false; (b) allege facts showing
actual deception; and (c) allege facts showing damage.
1.

The Advertising is Not False.

A plaintiff must allege facts that show the advertising contains “a false statement of fact.”
Hot Wax v. Turtle Wax, 191 F.3d 813, 819 (7th Cir. 1999). If a complaint challenges multiple
advertisements, claims related to specific advertisements that do not contain a false statement
should be dismissed. Casper Sleep v. Mitcham, 204 F. Supp. 3d 632, 638 (S.D.N.Y. 2016)
(dismissing certain claims where “many of the statements in question are simply not false or
plausibly misleading”).
a.

Comparative Advertising About Ingredients is Lawful.

The Lanham Act permits rivals to call attention to the ingredients of competitive
products. In Johnson & Johnson * Merck v. Smithkline, 960 F.2d 294, 301 (2d Cir. 1992), the
Second Circuit affirmed dismissal of a claim challenging a comparison of the ingredients of
competing antacids. Tums, which does not contain aluminum, emphasized that Mylanta did
contain aluminum. Id. at 297. The advertising was true. Id. J&J contended the advertising, “by
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repeatedly juxtaposing the absence of aluminum in TUMS with its presence in MYLANTA,”
suggested aluminum was harmful due to the widely-reported association between aluminum and
Alzheimer’s. Id. The claim was rejected because J&J failed to demonstrate the advertisements
were false or misleading. Id. at 301; see also Healthnow New York v. Catholic Health Sys., 2015
WL 5673123, *6 (W.D.N.Y. 2015) (“pursuing false advertising or deceptive act claims based on
statements repeated from [plaintiff’s] own promotional materials … is arguably frivolous.”). As
the court in Healthnow said, “it is unclear” how a plaintiff can claim false advertising for the
defendant “using the same language [plaintiff] uses in its own materials.” Id.
Here, MillerCoors concedes its use of corn syrup “has never been a secret.” ECF 1, ¶ 10;
id. ¶ 7. MillerCoors admits the commercials “recite the respective ingredients” of the beers. Id.
¶ 64. It acknowledges that Miller Lite and Coors Light are “brewed with” or “made with” corn
syrup. Id. The Bud Light advertising campaign refers consumers to MillerCoors’ website. See
ECF 14-4, Special Delivery Video File, at 0:08 (“Based on information available at
millercoors.com.”). That website then (and today) lists corn syrup as an ingredient without
qualification or further explanation. See Ex. H (screenshots from
https://www.millercoors.com/beers/great-beers/miller-lite;
https://www.millercoors.com/beers/great-beers/coors-light).
A plaintiff cannot assume that consumers will take a truthful statement and leap to false
conclusions about other matters. Sugawara v. Pepsico, 2009 WL 1439115, *3 (E.D. Cal. 2009)
(“it is entirely unlikely that members of the public would be deceived in the manner described by
Plaintiff”). A consumer who “will read a true statement on a package” does not necessarily
“assume things about the products other than what the statement actually says.” Blue Buffalo v.
Nestle Purina Petcare, 2016 WL 3227676, *3-4 (E.D. Mo. 2016) (phrase “Baked with Bacon,
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Egg & Cheese” does not suggest that meat is primary ingredient); see also Red v. Kraft Foods,
2012 WL 5504011, *2-4 (C.D. Cal. 2012) (calling product “Vegetable Thins” and truthfully
stating it is “made with real vegetables” does not mislead customers into thinking vegetables are
primary ingredient).
The law recognizes a distinction between consumer misunderstanding and advertisements
that are in fact misleading. For example, in Mead Johnson v. Abbott Labs., 201 F.3d 883 (7th
Cir. 2000), Mead Johnson challenged Abbott’s baby formula advertising claim of being, “1st
Choice of Doctors.” Id., 883-84. Mead Johnson claimed, based on a litigation survey, that the
advertisements implied that more than 50% of doctors preferred Abbott’s formula, when only a
plurality did. Id. The district court granted a preliminary injunction. The Seventh Circuit
reversed, holding, “never before has survey research been used to determine the meaning of
words, or to set the standard to which objectively verifiable claims must be held.” Id., 886. The
court stated, “interpreting ‘misleading’ to include factual propositions that are susceptible to
misunderstanding would make consumers as a whole worse off by suppressing truthful
statements….” Id.; see also Am. Italian Pasta v. New World Pasta, 371 F.3d 387, 393-94 (8th
Cir. 2004) (applying Lanham Act to advertisements or statements that are not misleading or false
would result in “unpredictability [that] could chill commercial speech, eliminating useful claims
from packaging and advertisements”); Language Line Servs. v. Language Servs., 2011 WL
5024281, *12 (N.D. Cal. 2011) (“statement … alleged to be misleading only in that it is possible
that consumers could interpret it to mean something other than what it does, is not actionable
under the Lanham Act”).
The holdings of these cases apply to Bud Light’s truthful advertising, which list
ingredients consistent with MillerCoors’s own prior statements and that are true. In its attempt to

6
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support its claim, MillerCoors goes so far as to make the allegation that a consumer would
believe from the advertising that Coors Light and Miller Lite are “brewed entirely of corn
syrup.” Id. ¶ 80. However, the Lanham Act, as explained in Mead Johnson, does not bar
truthful advertising that provides relevant, comparative information about ingredients, especially
when those advertisements accurately cite to the plaintiff’s own website listing of ingredients.2
The Supreme Court has clarified that the Lanham Act “does not have boundless application as a
remedy” for trade practices that a party deems to be unfair. Dastar v. Twentieth Century Fox,
539 U.S. 23, 29 (2003). Instead, it applies “only to certain unfair trade practices prohibited by its
text.” Id. Here, MillerCoors has failed to identify or plead any “false or misleading” statements
appearing in the accused ads, as required by the statute. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B). Count I does
not state a plausible claim for false advertising under the Lanham Act and, because this
deficiency cannot be cured by amendment, it should be dismissed with prejudice. Nigrelli v. E.I.
DuPont de Nemours, 31 F. Supp. 2d 1134, 1139 (E.D. Wis. 1999).
b.

Statements in Interviews are Not Actionable and are
Mischaracterized.

MillerCoors relies on statements by Bud Light Vice-President Andy Goeler. ECF 1, ¶¶ 3,
5, 14. There is no allegation that any consumers were influenced by the interviews and the
statements are not part of any advertising. L.A. Taxi Coop. v. Uber Techs., 114 F. Supp. 3d 852,
864 (N.D. Cal. 2015) (“Statements made to the media and published in a journalist’s news article

MillerCoors’s request for a disclaimer also should be denied. See ECF 1, ¶ 15 (alleging Bud
Light ads are misleading because they do not state that corn syrup is not in the final beer). There
is no duty to make further disclosures when advertising is true. “The Lanham Act does not
impose an affirmative duty of disclosure.” Casper, 204 F. Supp. 3d at 638. MillerCoors never
included a disclaimer in years of its own marketing and, even today, its ingredient lists do not
include any disclaimer. See, e.g., https://www.millercoors.com/beers/great-beers/miller-lite
(visited 4/9/19).

2
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concerning a matter of public importance are not commercial speech” and are not actionable
under the Lanham Act).
In any event, a review of the interviews shows that MillerCoors has grossly
mischaracterized Mr. Goeler’s statements. The Court is not required to accept MillerCoors’s
characterization of these statements, but instead can review the statements itself. See Vilter Mfg.
Co. v. Loring, 136 F.2d 466, 469 (7th Cir. 1943) (affirming dismissal where allegations in
complaint were “not borne out” by the terms of the contract on which plaintiff sue). For
example, the Complaint alleges that in a Food & Wine interview, Mr. Goeler “overtly
acknowledged that consumers confuse corn syrup and HFCS.” ECF 1, ¶ 14. Mr. Goeler did not.
Instead, he was asked, “[d]id you mean to kind of tacitly imply that these two products have
similarities when you focused on corn syrup?” He answered:
“No. Absolutely not. Absolutely not. And I disagree with your point about
consumers not knowing. I think you’re underestimating the young consumer base
out there. These people are very tuned in to ingredients. Very, very tuned into it.
They know what they are.”
Id. ¶ 14, n.19. Mr. Goeler never “acknowledged” that consumers are confused. The only
statement is that some consumers do not differentiate between the two in making purchasing
decisions even though they “absolutely” know the difference. Nor does Mr. Goeler ever say that
consumers believed that corn syrup was in the final product. Thus, even if the statements were
part of the advertising campaign, the Court need not accept MillerCoors’s characterizations of
the statements as true. Vilter, 136 F.2d at 469. Moreover, as evidenced by the transcripts
submitted herewith (Exs. A-F), none of the advertisements at issue include any reference to
“high fructose corn syrup.”
2.

No Actual Deception of a Substantial Number of Customers.

8
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As discussed above, MillerCoors concedes, as it must, that the statements in the
advertising campaign are true. ECF 1, ¶¶ 7, 10. It is thus left to contend (id. ¶ 84) that the
claims “may be literally true” but “implicitly convey a false impression, are misleading in
context, or likely to deceive consumers.” Hot Wax, 191 F.3d at 820. For a “true but misleading”
theory, the plaintiff must allege that the statement “actually deceived or has the tendency to
deceive a substantial segment of its audience.” Id. at 819; see also id. at 820 (“when the
statement is literally true or ambiguous, the plaintiff must prove that the statement is misleading
in context by demonstrated actual consumer confusion”). Anecdotal evidence of confusion is
insufficient. Control-Solutions, 2011 WL 1131329 at *2-3; Packman v. Chicago Trib., 267 F.3d
628, 645 (7th Cir. 2001). Rather, a plaintiff must allege facts showing that a “substantial
portion” of the audience is deceived. Wysong v. APN, 889 F.3d 267, 271 (6th Cir. 2018);
Vincent v. Utah Plastic Surgery, 621 F. App’x 546, 550 (10th Cir. 2015); Lokai Holdings v. Twin
Tiger, 306 F. Supp. 3d 629, 639 (S.D.N.Y. 2018).
MillerCoors does not meet these pleading requirements. It does not allege facts showing
a substantial portion of the intended audience was deceived or will be deceived. It does not
allege facts showing that this substantial portion was, or will be, fooled into believing it was
drinking corn syrup or high fructose corn syrup. The most that the Complaint alleges is that
“upon information and belief” the advertising is deceptive to consumers. ECF 1, ¶ 103. An
allegation “upon information and belief” is insufficient under Rule 9(b). U.S. ex rel. Grenadyor
v. Ukrainian Vill. Pharm., 772 F.3d 1102, 1108 (7th Cir. 2014); see also Control Solutions, 2011
WL 1131329 at *2-3 (allegations of violation of Lanham Act premised only “on information and
belief” insufficient to state actionable claim under Rule 9(b)).

9

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 10 of 21

The remaining allegations in the Complaint are that deception is “likely” to occur. ECF
1, ¶¶ 84-87. These allegations likewise are insufficient and nowhere assert facts that would show
that a substantial portion of the audience will be deceived in the way MillerCoors alleges. A
plaintiff challenging literally true advertising is required to allege specific facts that amount to
more than “mere speculation” showing that a significant portion of the customer audience has
been or will be deceived. See Vincent, 621 F. App’x at 550; Wysong, 889 F.3d at 271.
3.

Actual Damages Have Not Been Pled.

To state a claim under § 1125(a), the plaintiff must allege facts showing “the plaintiff has
been or is likely to be injured as a result of the false statement, either by direct diversion of sales
from itself to defendant or by a loss of goodwill associated with its products.” Hot Wax, 191
F.3d at 819. A plaintiff must do more than just state that it has suffered damage; it must make
“factual allegation[s] supporting their ‘labels and conclusions.’” Vincent, 621 F. App’x at 55051; Parimax Holding v. Exacta Sys., No. 16-cv-259 (D. Wyo. 2018) (attached as Ex. G)
(dismissing false advertising claims because “the damages alleged by [plaintiff] are largely
conclusory without supporting facts giving the claims plausibility”).
Count I alleges only “labels and conclusions” about damages and not facts. MillerCoors
alleges in ¶ 107 of its Complaint:
MillerCoors has been and continues to be damaged by AB’s false advertising,
including through direct diversion of sales from MillerCoors to AB and the
lessening of the goodwill that MillerCoors Coors Light and Miller Lite beers have
among the buying public.
The Complaint contains no facts supporting this conclusion. No examples are given. No data is
recited. The bare allegations of ¶ 107 are insufficient. Vincent, 621 F. App’x at 550-51
(affirming dismissal of Lanham Act claim where, as here, “[p]laintiffs’ assertion of damages is
merely a ‘formulaic recitation’ of the damages element of their Lanham Act claim”); see also
10
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Parimax, Ex. G (same).
The Complaint also does not allege facts supporting loss of goodwill. The goodwill
allegations are speculative and only triggered “[i]f consumers are falsely led to believe that
Coors Light and Miller Lite contain corn syrup….” ECF 1, ¶¶ 95-96. There is no allegation
describing any customer who was led to such a false belief. There is no data provided.
Moreover, there is no fact showing a prior or potential consumer had a negative view toward the
brands based on such a view. Id. These allegations are insufficient. Vincent, 621 F. App’x at
550-51.3
B.

Count II for Trademark Dilution Should be Dismissed.
Count II alleges that the Bud Light advertisements dilute the Coors Light and Miller Lite

trademarks in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c). Like its claim for false advertising, this claim
arises out of Bud Light’s statements that corn syrup is an ingredient of Coors Light and Miller
Lite. ECF 1, ¶¶ 88-98, 112. These statements are true and MillerCoors fails to allege the
elements of trademark dilution or state a plausible claim for relief because Bud Light cannot
make this claim without using the Miller Lite and Coors Light trademarks. The ads at issue are
comparative ads, which are expressly protected under the dilution statute. See 15 U.S.C.

3

MillerCoors alleges Bud Light’s fanciful depiction of a barrel labeled “Corn Syrup” delivered
by King Barley suggests that corn syrup is “intended to be used in similar quantities” as other
ingredients. ECF 1, ¶¶ 43-45. Such fanciful ads are entitled to wide berth. Consumers are
unlikely to believe the ingredients are transported in a large, oaken barrels. “[R]easonable
consumers know that marketing involves some level of exaggeration – what the law calls
‘puffery.’” Wysong, 889 F.3d at 271. “Courts thus view Lanham Act claims challenging
hyperbolic advertising with a skeptical eye.” Id. Thus, in Wysong, the court held that it was “not
plausible” that IAMS® pet food ads depicting choice cuts of beef and fish would cause
consumers to believe that “cheap” dog food would contain the same ingredients as costly
“people-food.” Id. at 271-72. No consumer would believe MillerCoors uses corn syrup
delivered in a giant wood barrel or that the size of the barrel indicates corn syrup is used in a
similar quantity as water.
11
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§ 1125(c)(3)(A)(i).
1.

Count II Is Barred By 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(3)(A).

Count II is barred by § 1125(c)(3)(A) as a matter of law. The Lanham Act “expressly
excludes from its reach ‘[a]ny fair use, including a nominative or descriptive fair use, or
facilitation of such fair use, of a famous mark by another person other than as a designation of
source for the person’s own goods or services.’” Rosetta Stone v. Google, 676 F.3d 144, 167
(4th Cir. 2012) (quoting 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(3)(A)). Specifically included within
§ 1125(c)(3)(A)’s safe harbor is the use of the mark “in connection with … advertising or
promotion that permits consumers to compare goods or services.” § 1125(c)(3)(A)(i). This is
precisely the content of the accused ads: they truthfully inform consumers that Miller Lite and
Coors Light are brewed with corn syrup, and Bud Light is not. They are comparative ads, which
require use of both parties’ marks and are statutorily excluded from dilution claims.
Moreover, § 1125(c)(3)(A) recognizes two categories of non-actionable fair use:
descriptive fair use and nominative fair use. Nominative fair use applies where the alleged
diluter “uses the famous mark to identify or compare the trademark owner’s product.” Rosetta
Stone, 676 F.3d at 169; Slep-Tone Entm’t v. Coyne, 41 F. Supp. 3d 707, 717 (N.D. Ill. 2014).
Here, the accused ads involve nominative fair use.
To prevail on a defense of nominative fair use, the defendant must show: (1) the product
in question is not readily identifiable without use of the trademark; (2) only so much of the mark
is used as reasonably necessary to identify the product; and (3) the user of the mark did nothing
that would suggest sponsorship by the trademark holder. Rosetta Stone, 676 F.3d at 169-70. So
long as the defendant’s use of the mark “does not falsely imply sponsorship or endorsement, the
trademark owner cannot prevent the use.” Frontrange Sols. v. Newroad Software, 505 F. Supp.

12
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2d 821, 834–35 (D. Colo. 2007); New Kids on the Block v. News Am. Pub., 971 F.2d 302, 309
(9th Cir. 1992) (“Where, as here, the use does not imply sponsorship or endorsement, the fact
that it is carried on for profit and in competition with the trademark holder’s business is beside
the point.”). Fair use can be resolved at the motion to dismiss stage where, as here, the
allegations demonstrate it to be present. Architectural Mailboxes v. Epoch Design, 2011 WL
1630809, *4 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (dismissing dilution claim on a Motion to Dismiss under the fair
use defense).
Bud Light’s use of the Coors Light and Miller Lite marks falls squarely within
§ 1125(c)(3)(A). See, e.g., Mattel v. Walking Mountain Prods., 353 F.3d 792, 809-12 (9th Cir.
2003); New Kids on the Block, 971 F.2d at 308-09 (holding defendant was entitled to nominative
fair use defense where defendants used the plaintiff’s mark to describe the plaintiff’s product in
connection with larger effort to describe defendant’s own products); Frontrange, 505 F. Supp. 2d
at 834–35 (dismissing trademark claims under nominative fair use defense); Smith v. Chanel,
402 F.2d 562, 569 (9th Cir. 1968) (nominative fair use where imitation perfume brand compared
itself to the plaintiff’s well-known perfume). Taking its allegations as true, MillerCoors’ dilution
claim necessarily fails because the facts that establish Anheuser-Busch’s nominative fair use are
clear from the face of MillerCoors’s Complaint. See, e.g., New Kids on the Block, 971 F.2d at
309 (holding defendant was entitled to nominative fair use defense where use did not imply
sponsorship or endorsement). Here, MillerCoors made the advertising campaign part of the
Complaint, such that the Court can consider it in a 12(b)(6) motion.
The first element of the defense is satisfied because it is not reasonably possible to refer
to Coors Light or Miller Lite without using their names or branding. See, e.g., id. at 308. The
second element – that “only so much of the mark is used as reasonably necessary to identify the

13
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product” – is met because there is no allegation that Bud Light overstepped by using more of the
mark than was necessary to identify MillerCoors’s brands and products. ECF 1, ¶¶ 43-69; New
Kids on the Block, 971 F.2d at 308-309. The third element is met because the only use of the
Miller Lite and Coors Light marks occurred in connection with product comparisons that make
clear that Bud Light (not MillerCoors) is using the marks. See, e.g., ECF 1, ¶¶ 41, 48-50, 66-68.
Several courts have barred similar claims under the fair use provisions of
§ 1125(c)(3)(A). See, e.g., Allied Interstate v. Kimmel & Silverman, 2013 WL 4245987, *4
(S.D.N.Y. 2013) (granting defendant’s motion for judgment on the pleadings under
§ 1125(c)(3)(A)(i) on grounds that defendant’s use of plaintiff’s mark was comparative
advertising); Architectural Mailboxes, 2011 WL 1630809 at *4 (trademark dilution claim could
not be stated as a matter of law where “the facts set out in the Complaint and the exhibits
attached thereto reflect that Defendant used Plaintiff’s trademark in connection with comparative
advertising or to criticize Plaintiff’s goods”); Toni & Guy v. Nature’s Therapy, 2006 WL
1153354, *13 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (granting motion for summary judgment on grounds that
“Defendant’s use of Plaintiff’s mark is a comparative advertisement and poses no risk of diluting
the selling power of the competitor’s mark”); Playboy v. Welles, 279 F.3d 796, 806 (9th Cir.
2002) (“Uses that do not create an improper association between a mark and a new product but
merely identify the trademark holder’s products should be excepted from the reach of the antidilution statute.”). The fair use provisions of the Lanham Act effectively codify courts’
longstanding skepticism of using trademark law as a tool to stifle the expressive use of
trademarks. See, e.g., Rogers v. Grimaldi, 875 F.2d 994, 1000-01 (2d Cir. 1989); E.S.S. Entm’t
2000 v. Rock Star Videos, 547 F.3d 1095, 1099 (9th Cir. 2008); Mattel v. MCA Records, 296
F.3d 894, 900-02 (9th Cir. 2002) (affirming summary judgment in favor of defendant on Lanham

14
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Act claims regarding a BARBIE GIRL song that was a commentary about BARBIE and the
values she purportedly represents); Caterpillar v. The Walt Disney Co., 287 F. Supp. 2d 913,
921-22 (C.D. Ill. 2003) (ruling plaintiff unlikely to prevail on tarnishment claim against allegedly
“unwholesome or unsavory” depiction of Caterpillar bulldozers). Here, Bud Light’s use of the
Miller Lite and Coors Light trademarks are a necessary and expressive component of the
comparative ads, many of which tell a fanciful story of a fictional kingdom where the parties’
beers are brewed. This is not actionable trademark dilution.
Because the elements that establish Bud Light’s entitlement to the nominative fair use
defense under § 1125(c)(3)(A) are clear from the face of the Complaint, § 1125(c)(A)(3)
compels dismissal of Count II under Rule 12(b)(6). And because Count II cannot be saved by
amendment, it should be dismissed with prejudice. Nigrelli, 31 F. Supp. 2d at 1139.
2.

Trademark Dilution under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c) Involves a Defendant’s Use of
Its Own Mark in Connection with its Own Product in a Way that Diminishes
the Distinctiveness and Prestige of the Plaintiff’s Mark.

“The fundamental purpose of a trademark is to reduce consumer search costs by
providing a concise and unequivocal identifier of the particular source of particular goods.” Ty
v. Perryman, 306 F.3d 509, 510 (7th Cir. 2002). Dilution of a trademark is the reduction of “the
distinctiveness of the trademark as a signifier of the trademarked product or service.” Id. at 511.
The purpose of a dilution claim is to protect “the trademark owner from the erosion of the
distinctiveness and prestige” of his trademark. Eli Lilly v. Nat. Answers, 233 F.3d 456, 466 (7th
Cir. 2000). To prevail on a claim for dilution, a plaintiff must prove that: (1) its mark is famous;
(2) defendant adopted its mark after plaintiff’s mark became famous; (3) defendant’s use of
plaintiff’s mark is commercial and in commerce; and (4) the alleged infringement is likely to
cause dilution regardless of the presence or absence of actual or likely confusion, of competition,
15
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or of any actual economic injury. 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(1); H-D U.S.A. v. SunFrog, 311 F. Supp.
3d 1000, 1042 (E.D. Wis. 2018) (listing elements).
Section 1125(c)(1) recognizes two forms of dilution: tarnishment and blurring. Dilution
by tarnishment, which appears to be the theory advanced by MillerCoors, see ECF 1, ¶ 95,
“occurs when a junior mark’s similarity to a famous mark causes consumers mistakenly to
associate the famous mark with the defendant’s inferior or offensive product.” Eli Lilly, 233
F.3d at 466; 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(2)(C). In contrast with dilution by blurring, “[d]ilution by
‘tarnishment’ is a much rarer and unusual situation.” 4 McCarthy on Trademarks and Unfair
Competition § 24:67 (5th ed.).
Dilution by tarnishment “is usually found where a distinctive mark is depicted in the
context of sexual activity, obscenity, or illegal activity.” Hormel v. Jim Henson Prods., 73 F.3d
497, 507 (2d Cir. 1996); see also, e.g., Kraft Foods v. Helm, 205 F. Supp. 2d 942, 948-50 (N.D.
Ill. 2002) (adult content); 4 McCarthy on Trademarks and Unfair Competition § 24:89 (5th ed.)
(discussing cases). Tarnishment also can be found where the plaintiff’s trademark is “linked to
[defendant’s] products of shoddy quality … with the result that the public will associate the lack
of quality or lack of prestige in the defendant’s goods with the plaintiff’s unrelated goods.”
Hormel, 73 F.3d at 507; H-D U.S.A, 311 F. Supp. 3d at 1044 (finding tarnishment of Harley
Davidson mark through defendant’s “cheaply made, knockoff products”).
3.

Count II Fails to Allege the Elements of Trademark Dilution.

Count II centers on Bud Light’s use of allegedly “false statements” about Coors Light
and Miller Lite beers. It does not focus on Bud Light’s use of the Coors Light and Miller Lite
trademarks. MillerCoors’s theory of dilution is this: Bud Light’s allegedly false statements
tarnish both brands by causing consumers to believe that Coors Light and Miller Lite contain
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corn syrup and, as a result, are inferior products. ECF 1, ¶¶ 89-90, 95-96. This negative
perception, MillerCoors alleges, “has damaged, and will continue to erode, the significant trust
that MillerCoors has built for both brands in the minds of consumers.” Id. ¶ 96. Stated another
way, MillerCoors complains that consumers of Miller Lite and Coors Light may lose respect for
those brands if they learn the ingredients used to brew those beers.
The problem for MillerCoors is that, even if Bud Light’s statements about MillerCoors’s
use of corn syrup are assumed, arguendo, to be misleading, which they are not, this is
insufficient to state a valid claim for dilution. Trademark dilution entails the defendant’s use of
its own mark in a way that dilutes the plaintiff’s previously-existing, famous mark. See 15
U.S.C. § 1125(c); H-D U.S.A., 311 F. Supp. 3d at 1042 (listing elements). Dilution is premised
on the existence of two different marks: the plaintiff’s superior, famous mark and the defendant’s
junior mark, and dilution occurs where the defendant’s mark creates a negative association with
the plaintiff’s mark. Id. Thus, dilution cannot exist where “there is no second mark or product at
issue [] to blur with or to tarnish.” Tiffany (NJ) v. eBay, 600 F.3d 93, 112 (2d Cir. 2010)
(affirming dismissal of dilution claims where defendant did not use plaintiff’s mark for purposes
of creating an association with defendant’s own product). Similarly, dilution does not exist
absent the creation of an association between the plaintiff’s and the defendant’s marks.
Here, MillerCoors does not allege the existence of a “second mark” that has created a
negative association for MillerCoors’s marks. This is fatal to Count II. Id. (affirming dismissal
of dilution claim where there was no “second mark” and there was no allegation that defendant
used plaintiff’s marks to refer to defendant’s own products); see also, e.g., 1-800 Contacts v.
WhenU.Com, 414 F.3d 400, 407-09 (2d Cir. 2005) (failure to state a claim for dilution where the
conduct alleged in the complaint did not involve the use of the plaintiff’s trademark). In fact,
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Count II makes no reference to Anheuser-Busch’s use of its own mark, and the only use of the
Coors Light and Miller Lite marks that is at issue is Anheuser-Busch’s comparative, or
nominative, fair use of those marks. ECF 1, ¶¶ 89-96, 109-116. Because Count II fails to allege
these elements of dilution, Count II fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.
4.

Count II Fails to State a Plausible Claim for Relief Under § 1125(c).

MillerCoors’s theory of dilution, in addition, is incompatible with an actionable dilution
claim. The thrust of MillerCoors’s dilution claim is that the Coors Light and Miller Lite marks
are “diluted” by the perceived inferiority of Coors Light and Miller Lite beer that results from
Bud Light’s allegedly false statements about MillerCoors’s use of corn syrup. Absent from
Count II is any concern, much less allegation, relating to the status of the Coors Light and Miller
Lite trademarks as “concise and unequivocal identifier[s]” of those brands. See Ty, 306 F.3d at
510. Instead, Count II concerns itself with consumer perception of Coors Light and Miller Lite
as inferior beers. Count II, then, focuses on the reputation of the brand, not the potency of the
symbol.
This allegation does not fit with a legally sufficient claim of dilution. Dilution does not
involve comparative advertising or the defendant’s use of the plaintiff’s mark for purposes of
identifying goods and services that belong to the plaintiff. Allied Interstate, 2013 WL 4245987,
*4; Tiffany (NJ), 600 F.3d at 111–12; see also, e.g., Scott Fetzer v. House of Vacuums, 381 F.3d
477, 489-90 (5th Cir. 2004) (holding plaintiff’s theory of dilution by tarnishment was
“untenable” where there was no allegation that defendant’s use of its own mark resulted in
negative associations with plaintiff’s mark); Nat’l Bus. Forms & Printing v. Ford, 671 F.3d 526,
536 (5th Cir. 2012) (holding that non-trademark use cannot constitute dilution). Because Count
II does not arise out of Anheuser-Busch’s alleged use of the Coors Light or Miller Lite marks to
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refer to Anheuser-Busch’s own products, Count II does not state a claim for relief under
§ 1125(c) and should be dismissed with prejudice. Nigrelli, 31 F. Supp. 2d at 1139.
Count II does not present other hallmarks of dilution by tarnishment. It does not involve
use of a mark in the “context of sexual activity, obscenity, or illegal activity” or in connection
with shoddy, knockoff products. Hormel, 73 F.3d at 507; H-D U.S.A., 311 F. Supp. 3d at 1044.
And the conduct at issue – literally true statements about ingredients – does not resemble the
conduct that courts have found to support dilution claims. See, e.g., H-D U.S.A., 311 F. Supp. 3d
at 1044; Kraft Foods, 205 F. Supp. 2d at 949-50. Moreover, unlike here, where Bud Light,
Coors Light, and Miller Lite are competing beer brands, “[d]ilution ordinarily applies where the
parties do not operate in competitive or closely related product lines.” Malletier v. Dooney &
Bourke, 561 F. Supp. 2d 368, 379 (S.D.N.Y. 2008).
MillerCoors does not even seek the kind of injunctive relief that is permitted under
§ 1125(c)(1): the enjoinder of the defendant’s use of defendant’s own mark. Instead, Count II
asks that the Court enjoin “AB’s false and misleading claims,” which is the remedy for false
advertising. ECF 1, ¶ 97 (“Unless enjoined, AB’s false and misleading claims are likely to
irreparably harm MillerCoors goodwill and reputation … as well as dilute MillerCoors famous
COORS LIGHT and MILLER LITE trademarks.”). Count II’s failure to match its request for
relief to relief permitted in a dilution claim reveals that the alleged injury has nothing to do with
the use of trademarks. Instead, apparently acknowledging the flaws in its false advertising claim
(Count I), MillerCoors seeks to repackage its false advertising claim under the guise of a dilution
claim (Count II). However, the dilution claim is a poor fit and its attempt has failed.
Indeed, Count II’s focus on alleged consumer confusion (see id. ¶ 95) is a further red flag
that this is not a proper trademark dilution claim. Consumer confusion is an element of claims
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for false advertising or infringement, but it is not a requirement of a claim of dilution. Section
1125(c)(1) states that dilution is independent “of the presence or absence of actual or likely
confusion.” See also, e.g., Facebook v. Teachbook.com, 819 F. Supp. 2d 764, 785 (N.D. Ill.
2011) (stating that the harm in dilution “is not based on the potential for consumer confusion”);
AM Gen. v. DaimlerChrysler, 311 F.3d 796, 812 (7th Cir. 2002).
In the end, despite being cast as a dilution claim, Count II simply is a repackaged version
of MillerCoors’s false advertising claim. Both counts are based on the same underlying conduct;
both counts proceed from the same alleged injury; both counts seek the same injunctive relief
(i.e. enjoinder of the allegedly false statements). Compare ECF 1, ¶¶ 89-90, 95-98, 109-116
(Count II), with id. ¶¶ 80-87, 99-108 (Count I). The parallels between Count II and Count I
further confirm that Count II is a repurposed claim for false advertising, not a true dilution claim.
It should therefore be dismissed with prejudice. Nigrelli, 31 F. Supp. 2d at 1139.
IV. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, Anheuser-Busch respectfully requests that this Court grant
Anheuser-Busch’s motion to dismiss the Complaint.
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1

KING:

2

KNIGHT:

3
4
5

And that's how you brew it.
My King, this corn syrup was just

delivered.
KING:

That's not ours.

Light with corn syrup.

6

KNIGHT:

7

KING:

Miller Lite uses corn syrup.

Let us take it to them at once.

8
9
10
11

o0o
KING:

But if something did happen, we'd eat

the wizard first, right?
CROWD:

Yes.

12
13
14
15
16

KING:

Oh brewers of Miller Lite, we

received your corn syrup by mistake.
MILLER LITE:

18

MILLER LITE:

25

Try the Coors Light castle.

They also use corn syrup.
o0o
KING:

Can you smoke outside?

22

24

We

You're joking.

20

23

That's not our corn syrup.

received our shipment this morning.
KING:

21

Oh, yes.
o0o

17

19

We don't brew Bud

o0o
KING:

Oh brewers of Coors Light, is this

corn syrup yours?
COORS LIGHT:

Well, well, well.
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the corn syrup has come home to be brewed.

2

clear, we brew Coors Light with corn syrup.

3

KING:

4

VOICE OVER:

5

To be

Ah.
Bud Light, brewed with no corn

syrup.
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24
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I, Elizabeth M. Gravitz, Certified Court Reporter,
do hereby certify the above transcript is a true and
accurate transcript of my notes, to the best of my ability,
of a commercial, Special Delivery, transcribed by me.
I further certify that I am neither attorney nor
counsel for nor related nor employed by any of the parties
to the action in which this examination is taken; further,
that I am not a relative or employee of any attorney or
counsel employed by the parties hereto or financially
interested in this action.

8
9
10

Dated March 28, 2019.

11
12
13
14
15

__________________________________________
Elizabeth M. Tucker-Gravitz, CCR

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-1 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 7 of 7
Page 5
A
ability 4:3
accurate 4:3
action 4:5,7
Ah 3:3
attorney 4:4,6
B

home 3:1
I
interested 4:7
J
joking 2:17

best 4:3
brew 2:1,4 3:2
brewed 3:1,4
brewers 2:13,23
Bud 2:4 3:4

K
King 2:1,2,4,7,9
2:13,17,21,23
3:3
KNIGHT 2:2,6

C
castle 2:18
CCR 4:14
CCR#881 1:11
CERTIFICATE 4:1
Certified 4:2
certify 4:2,4
clear 3:2
come 3:1
commercial 1:1
4:3
Coors 2:18,23,25
3:2
corn 2:2,5,6,14,15
2:19,24 3:1,2,4
counsel 4:5,6
Court 4:2
CROWD 2:11

L
Light 2:5,18,23,25
3:2,4
Lite 2:6,13,15,18
Looks 2:25

D
Dated 4:10
delivered 2:3
Delivery 1:2 4:3
E
eat 2:9
Elizabeth 1:11 4:2
4:14
employed 4:5,6
employee 4:6
examination 4:5
F
financially 4:6
first 2:10
further 4:4,5
G
Gravitz 1:11 4:2
H
happen 2:9
hereto 4:6

M
M 1:11 4:2,14
March 4:10
Miller 2:6,13,15
2:18
mistake 2:14
morning 2:16
N
neither 4:4
notes 4:3
O
o0o 2:8,12,20,22
Oh 2:11,13,23
once 2:7
outside 2:21
P
parties 4:5,6

3:5
T
take 2:7
taken 4:5
transcribed 4:3
transcript 1:1 4:2
4:3
true 4:2
Try 2:18
Tucker-Gravitz
4:14
U
use 2:19
uses 2:6
V
VOICE 3:4
W
wizard 2:10
X
Y
Z
0
1
2
2019 4:10
28 4:10
3
4

Q

5

R
received 2:14,16
related 4:5
relative 4:6
Reporter 4:2
REPORTER'S 4:1
right 2:10

6
7
8
9

S
shipment 2:16
smoke 2:21
Special 1:2 4:3
syrup 2:2,5,6,14
2:15,19,24 3:1,2

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-2 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 1 of 6

EXHIBIT B

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-2 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 2 of 6

__________________________________

Medieval Barbers
March 28, 2019

__________________________________

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-2 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 3 of 6

Transcript of Commercial
"Medieval Barbers"

ELIZABETH M. GRAVITZ, CCR#881

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-2 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 4 of 6
Page 2
1

BARBER ONE:

Did you know Coors Light is

2

made with barley, water, and hop extract and corn

3

syrup?

4
5

Next.
BARBER TWO:

And Bud Light is made with

barley, rice, water, hops, and no corn syrup.
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MAN ONE:

Miller Lite is made with barley,

water, hops, hop extract, and corn syrup.
MAN TWO:

Bud Light is made with barley,

rice, water, hops, and no corn syrup.
MAN THREE:

Hey, is someone whispering beer

ingredients in there?
MAN ONE:

Shh.

Shut up.

8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-3 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 5 of 6
Page 3
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
I, Elizabeth M. Gravitz, Certified Court Reporter,
do hereby certify the above transcript is a true and
accurate transcript of my notes, to the best of my ability,
of a commercial, Trojan Horse, transcribed by me.
I further certify that I am neither attorney nor
counsel for nor related nor employed by any of the parties
to the action in which this examination is taken; further,
that I am not a relative or employee of any attorney or
counsel employed by the parties hereto or financially
interested in this action.

8
9
10

Dated March 28, 2019.

11
12
13
14
15

__________________________________________
Elizabeth M. Tucker-Gravitz, CCR

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-3 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 6 of 6
Page 4
A
ability 3:3
accurate 3:3
action 3:5,7
attorney 3:4,6
B
barley 2:1,3
beer 2:5
best 3:3
Bud 2:3
C
CCR 3:14
CCR#881 1:11
CERTIFICATE 3:1
Certified 3:2
certify 3:2,4
commercial 1:1
3:3
corn 2:2,4
counsel 3:5,6
Court 3:2
D
Dated 3:10
E
Elizabeth 1:11 3:2
3:14
employed 3:5,6
employee 3:6
examination 3:5
extract 2:2
F
financially 3:6
further 3:4,5
G
Gravitz 1:11 3:2
H
hereto 3:6
Hey 2:5
hop 2:2
hops 2:2,4
Horse 1:2 3:3
I
ingredients 2:6
interested 3:7

L
Light 2:3
Lite 2:1

Z

M
M 1:11 3:2,14
MAN 2:1,3,5,7
March 3:10
Miller 2:1

1

N
neither 3:4
notes 3:3
O
P
parties 3:5,6
Q
R
related 3:5
relative 3:6
Reporter 3:2
REPORTER'S 3:1
rice 2:4

0

2
2019 3:10
28 3:10
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

S
Shh 2:7
Shut 2:7
syrup 2:2,4
T
taken 3:5
THREE 2:5
transcribed 3:3
transcript 1:1 3:2
3:3
Trojan 1:2 3:3
true 3:2
Tucker-Gravitz
3:14
TWO 2:3
U
V
W
water 2:2,4
whispering 2:5

J

X

K

Y

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-4 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 1 of 6

EXHIBIT D

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-4 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 2 of 6

__________________________________

Mountain Folk
March 28, 2019

__________________________________

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-4 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 3 of 6

Transcript of Commercial
"Mountain Folk"

ELIZABETH M. GRAVITZ, CCR#881

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-4 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 4 of 6
Page 2
1
2

MOUNTAIN MAN ONE:

barley, water, hop extract, and corn syrup.

3
4

MOUNTAIN MAN TWO:

Miller Lite is made with

barley, water, hops, hop extract, and corn syrup.

5
6

Coors Light is made with

MOUNTAIN MAN THREE:

Bud Light is made with

barley, rice, water, hops, and no corn syrup.

7

MOUNTAIN MAN ONE:

Bye-bye.

8

MOUNTAIN MAN TWO:

See you later.

9

MOUNTAIN MAN THREE:

10

We should do this more

often.
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CAVE EXPLORER ONE:

Coors Light is made with

barley, water, hop extract, and corn syrup.
CAVE EXPLORER TWO:

Bud Light is made with

barley, rice, water, hops, and no corn syrup.
CAVE EXPLORER ONE:

Good to know.
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
I, Elizabeth M. Gravitz, Certified Court Reporter,
do hereby certify the above transcript is a true and
accurate transcript of my notes, to the best of my ability,
of a commercial, Cave Explorers, transcribed by me.
I further certify that I am neither attorney nor
counsel for nor related nor employed by any of the parties
to the action in which this examination is taken; further,
that I am not a relative or employee of any attorney or
counsel employed by the parties hereto or financially
interested in this action.
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THESPIAN ONE:

Miller Lite is made with

barley, water, hops, hop extract, and corn syrup.
THESPIAN TWO:

Bud Light is made with

barley, rice, water, hops, and no corn syrup.
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
I, Elizabeth M. Gravitz, Certified Court Reporter,
do hereby certify the above transcript is a true and
accurate transcript of my notes, to the best of my ability,
of a commercial, Thespians, transcribed by me.
I further certify that I am neither attorney nor
counsel for nor related nor employed by any of the parties
to the action in which this examination is taken; further,
that I am not a relative or employee of any attorney or
counsel employed by the parties hereto or financially
interested in this action.
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Dated March 28, 2019.

11
12
13
14
15

__________________________________________
Elizabeth M. Tucker-Gravitz, CCR

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-6 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 6 of 6
Page 4
A
ability 3:3
accurate 3:3
action 3:5,7
attorney 3:4,6
B
barley 2:2,4
best 3:3
Bud 2:3

M
M 1:11 3:2,14
March 3:10
Miller 2:1
N
neither 3:4
notes 3:3
O

C
CCR 3:14
CCR#881 1:11
CERTIFICATE 3:1
Certified 3:2
certify 3:2,4
commercial 1:1
3:3
corn 2:2,4
counsel 3:5,6
Court 3:2

P
parties 3:5,6

D
Dated 3:10

S
syrup 2:2,4

E
Elizabeth 1:11 3:2
3:14
employed 3:5,6
employee 3:6
examination 3:5
extract 2:2

T
taken 3:5
THESPIAN 2:1,3
Thespians 1:2 3:3
transcribed 3:3
transcript 1:1 3:2
3:3
true 3:2
Tucker-Gravitz
3:14
TWO 2:3

F
financially 3:6
further 3:4,5
G
Gravitz 1:11 3:2
H
hereto 3:6
hop 2:2
hops 2:2,4
I
interested 3:7

Q

28 3:10
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

R
related 3:5
relative 3:6
Reporter 3:2
REPORTER'S 3:1
rice 2:4

U
V
W
water 2:2,4
X
Y

J

Z

K

0

L
Light 2:3
Lite 2:1

1
2
2019 3:10

PohlmanUSA Court Reporting
(877) 421-0099
PohlmanUSA.com

Case: 3:19-cv-00218-wmc Document #: 29-7 Filed: 04/18/19 Page 1 of 6

EXHIBIT G

Case:
Case
3:19-cv-00218-wmc
1:16-cv-00259-ABJDocument
Document
#: 43
29-7Filed
Filed:
02/23/18
04/18/19
Page
Page
1 of25of 6

- ! - T -•

r r-,c Vvr

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COUit

^

::0!aFEB23 PH ii'-o9

FOR THE DISTRICT OF WYOMING S:
Li til I L1..V>-

Parimax Holding, LLC,
Plaintiff,
vs.

Case No: 16-CV-259-J

Exacta Systems, LLC f/k/a Encore Gaming,
LLC,
Defendant.

ORDER PARTIALLY GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS

This matter is before the Court on Defendant Exact Systems, LLC f/k/a Encore Gaming,

LLC (Exacta or Defendant) Motion to Dismiss (Motion, ECF No. 20). Exacta submitted a
Memorandum in Support ofMotion to Dismiss (Memo, ECF No. 21). Plaintiff Parimax Holding,
LLC (Parimax or Plaintiff) filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (Response,

ECF No. 29) and a Requestfor Oral Argument on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 30).
Exacta submitted a Reply Memorandum in Support ofDefendant's Motion to Dismiss (ECF No.
32), and Parimax provided a Supplemental Exhibit in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (ECF No.
16). The Court held a hearing on the Motion on February 23,2018. Having considered the

parties' written submissions and oral arguments, all matters of record, and the applicable law, the
Court hereby partially GRANTS the Motion (ECF No. 20).
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Background

Parimax filed an action against Exacta for false advertising pursuant to the Lanham Act

§ 43(a), 15 U.S.C. 1125(a). Complaint at 1, EOF No. 1. Parimax alleges that Exacta marketed
and sold its games based on false and misleading representations that "(1) the Exacta Games are
strictly pari-mutuel; (2) the Exacta Games do not rely on any random elements to determine the
outcome of wagers; and (3) that the Exacta Games are based on a model wager approved by the
Association of Racing Commissioners International ("ARCI") known as ARCI-04-1 OST - Pick

(n) Position (x)." Id. at 1-2. Parimax asserted that Exacta's games were not "strictly parimutuel," relied on random elements, and do not follow the ARCI Pick (n) Position (x) model

wager. Id. at 2. Parimax claimed Exacta made a false statement that Exacta's games were 'just

like' live horse racing wagers when Exacta's wagers and payouts were not like pari-mutuel
wagers in live horse racing because Exacta uses a single pool of money for multiple wagers. Id.
Parimax claimed that Exacta's games had random elements in them. Id. at 2-3. Parimax alleges
that Exacta did not follow the ARCI Pick (n) Position (x) model wager because some correct

positions in races were rewarded more than other correctly selected positions. Id. Parimax further

claimed that Exacta avoided development costs by failing to distribute prize pools in a parimutuel manner and in accordance with the ARCI Pick (n) Position (x) rule. Id. at 3. Parimax

claims that Exacta has an unfair and unlawfully-obtained position in the historical horse racing
market that has caused harm to Parimax. Id. at 4. Parimax is seeking injunctive relief prohibiting
Exacta and its agents from engaging in false or misleading advertising with respect to the Exacta
System and Games and from violating the Lanham Act § 43(a). Id. at 29. Parimax seeks relief

that includes Exacta removing all false or misleading advertisements, correcting advertisements,
and correcting any erroneous impressions people may have derived. Parimax also seeks to be
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awarded Exacta's profits as damages, costs, attorneys' fees, and prejudgment and post judgment
interest. Id. at 30.
Standard of Review

The Motion is a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. In Ashcroft v. Iqbal, the Supreme Court articulated
a two-step approach for district courts to use when considering a motion to dismiss imder Fed. R.
Civ. p. 12(b)(6). See 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009). First, "a court considering a motion to dismiss
can choose to begin by identifying pleadings that, because they are no more than conclusions, are
not entitled to the assumption of truth." Id. Iqbal clarified that "the tenet that a court must accept
as true all of the allegations contained in a complaint is inapplicable to legal conclusions," and
"[tjhreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory
statements, do not suffice." Id. at 678.

Second, "[wjhen there are well-pleaded factual allegations, a court should assume thenveracity and then determine whether they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief." Id. at
679. The Court has stated that "[t]o survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain

sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face."
Id. at 678. "A claim has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct

alleged." Id. Plausibility lies somewhere between possibility and probability; a complaint must
establish more than a mere possibility that the defendant acted unlawfiilly but the complaint does

not need to establish that the defendant probably acted unlawfully. See id. "Determining whether
a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will... be a context-specific task that requires the

reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and common sense." Id. at 679.
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February 23.2018 Motion Hearing

The motions hearing cleared up significant confusion in this case regarding the gravamen of
Parimax's Complaint. A substantial portion of the parties' briefings is dedicated to arguing about
whether the Exacta System is legal under Wyoming Law and what statements or claims Exacta
may have made to the Wyoming Pari-mutuel Commission in order to gain approval for the

Exacta System to operate in Wyoming. At the motion hearing, Parimax confessed that it is not
challenging the approval or legality of the Exacta System in Wyoming, statements Exacta made
to the Wyoming Pari-mutuel Commission, or seeking an injunction to prevent Exacta from
operating in Wyoming. The gravamen of this case is the statements Exacta made to operators in
Kentucky and Wyoming at various locations and events where the parties' competing products
are promoted and sold. While Parimax did state in its briefing that it w£is not challenging the

regulatory approval, its Complaint was not clear in that regard. A substantial portion of the
parties' arguments in the briefings address the state regulatory approval and not whether there
was a violation of § 43(a) of the Lanham Act. Parimax asserted at the hearing that it could
correct its Complaint. The Court agreed to allow Plaintiff to amend its Complaint.

The damages alleged by Parimax are largely conclusory without supporting facts giving the
claims plausibility. However, given opportunity to amend, Parimax may be able to allege

damages that do give its Lanham Act claim plausibility.
Conclusion

The Court FINDS and concludes that the Complaint as written does not plausibly allege
damages for a violation of § 43(a) of the Lanham Act. However, Plaintiff may amend its
Complaint.
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To the extent that Parimax's Complaint challenges regulatory approval of the Exacta
System in Wyoming, the Court GRANTS Defendant's Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 20).

The Court GRANTS Plaintiff leave to amend. Plaintiff may file an amended complaint
by April 13,2018.

Dated this ^^^Aay ofFebruary, 2018.
Alan B. Johnson

United States District Judge
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Miller Lite

Miller Lite

Mill e r Lite is the o rig ina l lig ht beer. Introd uced in 1975, Miller Lite was
bre we d to b e a g reat tasting beer that just ha p p ened to be lig ht, not so me
le sser ve rs io n of a full-calo rie b eer. Wh ile many o ther lig ht b e e rs have b een
d eve lop e d ove r the yea rs, Mil ler lite rema ins the o rig ina l, a lways up ho ld ing
Mille r's commitme nt to "qua lity uncomp romising and unchang ing ." The
Mille r Lite recip e uses a uniq ue blend ot choice Saaz a nd Pacitic No rthwest
ho p s and a sig nificant a mount of ca ramel ma lt. In add ition, we a re still p roud
to use the same stra in of brewer's yeast that Frederick Mille r brought with him
fro m Ge rmany in the 1850's. Our beer contin ues to be purpose fully b re we d
for more taste, a roma and golden color than other light beers, with just 96
calorie s.
Ing redie nts: Water, Barley Ma lt, Corn Syrup (Dextrose}, Yeast, Hops a nd Ho F
Extract
Visit Miller Lite

Awards
• World Beer Cup, Lig ht Lager (Gold 2016)
• World Beer Cup, Best American-Style Light
Lager (Gold -2006, 2002, 1998 and 1996)
• G reat A me rica n Beer l=estive l, Americen-Style

Pre mium Lager (Gold 2014)
• Great American Beer Festiva l, American-Style
Lager, Light Lager or Prem ium Lager (Silve r
2012)
• Great American Beer Festival, American -Style
Lager or Light Lager (Gold- 2010)
• Great American Beer Festival.American-Style
Lager (Silver 2003)

Nutritional Information
Serving size: 12 fl oz
Pe r Serving: AlcNol 4.2%, Ca lories 96, Fat Og ,
Choleste rol Omg, Sodium 5mg, Carbohydrates
3.2g, Fibe r Og, Suga r Og, Protein <1 g

Miller Brewing Company
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Coors Light

Coors Light

Ad o lph Co ors esta b lishe d his b rewe ry in the Ro ckies in t he 1870s . In 19 78,
Coors Lig ht was b orn in t he b rea thta king Rocky Mo unta ins , a setting t hat
continues to insp ire o ur b re wing to d ay. Co ors Lig ht is a lways lag e re d b e lo w
freezing a nd co ld -filte re d , resulting in b rillia nt cl arity, a nd a cl ean, crisp taste .
Coors Lig ht is b ottled cold and ne ve r he at p aste urized , wh ich means you get
t he ultimate in cold re freshme nt, eve ry time .

Awards
•
•
•
•
•

G reat Ame rica n Beer Festiva l (Bro nze 20 16)
Wo rld Beer Cup (Gold , 201 4)
Wo rld Beer Cup (Gold , 201 2)
G reat Ame rica n Beer Festiva l (Silve r, 201 4)
G reat Ame rica n Beer Festiva l (Gold , 2008)

Ing re d ie nts : Wate r, Barle y Ma lt, Co rn Syrup (Dextro se), Yeast, Ho p Extract

11

~a@

Nutritional Information
Serving size: 12 fl oz
Per Se rving : AlcN o l 4 .2%, Ca lo ries 102, Fat Og ,
Cho leste ro l Omg , So:::lium 10mg , Ca rb ohyd rates
Sg, Fib e r Og , Suga r 1g , Prote in < 1g

Coors Brewing Company
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